No. 43576-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Jeanne Barringer,

Appellant.

Lewis County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00119-1
The Honorable Judge James Lawler

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by denying Ms. Barringer's motion to suppress.
- 2. The trial court erred by admitting evidence obtained in violation of Ms. Barringer's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment.
- 3. The trial court erred by admitting evidence obtained in violation of Ms. Barringer's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7.
- 4. The police violated Ms. Barringer's right to privacy by detaining her for 2 ½ hours (without arresting her) before obtaining consent to search her purse.
- 5. The police violated Ms. Barringer's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7 by searching her purse without a warrant and in the absence of valid consent.
- 6. The trial judge erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1.7.
- 7. The trial judge erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1.12.
- 8. The trial judge erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1.15.
- 9. The trial judge erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1.28.
- 10. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.3.
- 11. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.4.
- 12. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.6.
- 13. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.7.
- 14. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.8.
- 15. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.9.
- 16. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.10.
- 17. The trial judge erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.11.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Evidence seized without a warrant is inadmissible at trial, unless the prosecution establishes an exception to the warrant requirement. In this case, police detained Ms. Barringer for 2½ hours prior to obtaining her consent to search her purse. Did the trial court err by admitting illegally seized evidence in violation of Ms. Barringer's rights under Wash. Const. Article I. Section 7?
- 2. An investigatory seizure must be limited in duration, and officers must use the least intrusive means available to dispel or confirm their suspicions. Here, Ms. Barringer was handcuffed and held for 2½ hours while the officers searched the vehicle, searched her person, subjected her, the vehicle, and her purse to a drug sniffing dog, and conducted a strip search, all with negative results. Did the lengthy detention violate Ms. Barringer's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7?
- 3. Consent to search must be freely and voluntarily given. Here, the police pressured Ms. Barringer into consenting to a search of her purse by detaining her for 2 ½ hours, ignoring her refusal to give consent, and making groundless threats to obtain a warrant. Did the trial court err by admitting illegally seized evidence in violation of Ms. Barringer's rights under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

On the evening of February 29, 2012, a Chevy Blazer left a snow-covered roadway outside Morton (in rural Lewis County) and landed in the ditch. RP (5/30/12) 5-6, 9, 10, 13-15, 22; CP 5. The SUV was occupied by Jeanne Barringer and Michael Hartley. RP (5/30/12) 6, 15; CP 5. Neither was injured. RP (5/30/12) 6; CP 5. A tow truck was called. CP 5.

At 7:42 p.m., Morton Police Officer Perry Royle arrived. RP (5/30/12) 5; CP 5. After ensuring that both occupants were ok, Royle asked what happened. Ms. Barringer told him that she drove off the road, and provided Royle with her driver's license. RP (5/30/12) 6-7; CP 5.

Trooper Nathan Hovinghoff arrived at 7:53 p.m. CP 5.

Hovinghoff had received the call at around 7: 26 p.m., but it had taken him nearly 30 minutes to arrive, because of the snow. RP (5/30/12) 13-14.

Royle gave Hovinghoff Ms. Barringer's license. RP (5/30/12) 6-7.

Hovinghoff retained Ms. Barringer's license, and questioned her about the vehicle and the accident. RP (5/30/12) 16-17. She told him the SUV was registered to Hartley's girlfriend, admitted that it was not insured, and told him that she'd driven off the road. RP (5/30/12) 16.

3

¹ The vehicle did not have insurance. CP 5.

Hovinghoff had seen Hartley driving the vehicle several hours earlier; he claimed that Hartley "was trying so hard to look inconspicuous that he really stood out." RP (5/30/12) 17. He did not describe Hartley's behavior, or what made him conclude that Hartley was trying to look inconspicuous. RP (5/30/12) 17. Hovinghoff asked Royle to run Hartley's information, and he learned that Hartley's license was suspended. RP (5/30/12) 18; CP 5-6. He separated Ms. Barringer from Hartley and asked her if Hartley had been driving. She admitted that he had, and explained the circumstances. RP (5/30/12) 18. Hovinghoff did not arrest her for having provided a false statement. See RP, generally; CP 6-11.

After Ms. Barringer confirmed that Hartley had been driving earlier, Hovinghoff arrested him. RP (5/30/12) 18; CP 6. Hartley initially denied driving. RP (5/30/12) 18. He said he "couldn't get in any trouble" and offered information to "make a deal" with the trooper. RP (5/30/12) 19. He told Hovinghoff that he'd driven Ms. Barringer to Rochester to purchase methamphetamine and that she'd had \$1,000 in cash. He claimed that she now had an ounce of methamphetamine on her person or in the Blazer. He did not witness the alleged transaction, and never saw

 $^{^2}$ Hovinghoff did not testify to a specific time. Accordingly, Finding No. 1.7 is unsupported in that respect, and should be vacated.

³ Apparently Hartley's male ego was a factor. RP (5/30/12) 18.

the methamphetamine. RP (5/30/12) 19-20. He also told Hovinghoff that there was a marijuana pipe in the Blazer. RP (5/30/12) 33.

According to Hovinghoff, Ms. Barringer "is known to associate herself with drugs." RP (5/30/12) 51. He learned this "[p]robably over pancakes at the cafe with other deputies or officers." RP (5/30/12) 51. He was not aware of any specific information implicating her in criminal activity. RP (5/30/12) 51.

Hovinghoff had Ms. Barringer get out of the Blazer again, and asked her when she'd last used drugs. She told him she didn't use drugs, and hadn't for months. CP 6. She denied having any drugs in the SUV, and consented to a search of her person.⁴ CP 6. Hovinghoff searched her and found nothing.⁵ CP 6-7.

Hovinghoff told Ms. Barringer she was being detained for drug possession, and handcuffed her. CP 7. When he did so, Ms. Barringer

immediately kind of sat down fainting, kind of had a panic attack. She sat on the ground for a while in the snow. RP (5/30/12) 23.

⁴ Hovinghoff told her she could refuse, restrict, or revoke consent, and that anything discovered could be used against her. CP 6-7.

⁵ The court's findings indicate that Hovinghoff "conducted a pat-down search of the outside of the Defendant's clothing..." CP 7. Hovinghoff did not reveal how he conducted the initial search of her person. RP (5/30/12) 22-23. Accordingly, Finding No. 1.15 is unsupported by the evidence in that regard, and should be vacated.

Hovinghoff read her Miranda rights (apparently while she was still breathing heavily and having her panic attack.) RP (5/30/12) 23. Ms. Barringer did not explicitly waive her rights. See RP, generally; CP 7.

Hovinghoff secured Ms. Barringer in a patrol car, and then obtained Hartley's consent to search the Blazer. He asked Ms. Barringer if he could search her purse; she declined to give permission. CP 7. Hovinghoff told her that he could apply for a search warrant, that a judge would decide whether to grant the warrant or not, and that there was some possibility he wouldn't be allowed to search. CP 7; RP (5/30/12) 27. Hovinghoff seized Ms. Barringer's purse and secured it in his car. CP 7; RP (5/30/12) 27.

Hovinghoff then searched the Blazer and found nothing—not even the marijuana pipe that Hartley had claimed would be there. CP 7; RP (5/30/12) 27. He told Hartley that he hadn't found any methamphetamine in the Blazer; Hartley suggested "that she probably had it inside of her, referring to her privates." RP (5/30/12) 28.

When a tow truck arrived and towed the Blazer away, Hovinghoff had Ms. Barringer transported to the towing company's parking lot as well. RP (5/30/12) 10, 28; CP 8. At 8:57 p.m., Hovinghoff asked for a K-9 unit. While waiting for the dog to arrive, he started writing a search

warrant for Ms. Barringer's purse. CP 8. The K-9 unit arrived after half an hour (at 9:27 p.m.) CP 8.

The drug-sniff dog was led around and inside the Blazer, and around multiple bags, including Ms. Barringer's purse. The dog did not alert on any of the items, and did not locate the marijuana pipe Hartley claimed police would find in the Blazer. 6 CP 8; RP (5/30/12) 33.

A female officer named Deputy Shannon arrived at the tow company's parking lot at 9:30 p.m.; she and Hovinghoff reinterviewed Hartley. CP 8. At 10:11 p.m., Hovinghoff obtained Ms. Barringer's consent for a strip search, after again advising her of her right to refuse consent. CP 9. Ms. Barringer, still in handcuffs, was transported in a patrol car to the Morton Police Department, where her handcuffs were removed. She squatted over a toilet, and Shannon observed her genitals while she urinated. Shannon then looked inside Ms. Barringer's pants, and patted her down. She may also have looked in her bra or "shook it out." CP 9; RP (6/1/12) 8-9, 17. Shannon found nothing on Ms. Barringer's person. CP 9; RP (6/1/12) 18.

Hovinghoff released Hartley and resumed working on his search warrant request. CP 9. Ms. Barringer was transported back to the tow

 $^{^6}$ This apparently did not cause Hovinghoff to question Hartley's veracity. RP (5/30/12) 33.

company parking lot. CP 9. She remained in the back of Royle's car along with Deputy Shannon, who asked her what Hovinghoff might find in her purse. CP 9; RP (6/1/12) 9-10. When Ms. Barringer told Shannon that she had a small amount of marijuana that she used for medicinal purposes, both Shannon and Hovinghoff told her they would not care about that. CP 9; RP (5/30/12) 35; RP (6/1/12) 9-10.

Hovinghoff again advised Ms. Barringer of her right to refuse consent to search her purse, and told her that she could restrict or revoke her consent at any time. Ms. Barringer told him he could search, but then asked him not to look in the front pocket of the purse. CP 10. Hovinghoff replied

"Well, the consent would be for the whole purse." If she didn't want to give consent for [the] whole purse I would just apply for a search warrant.

RP (5/30/12) 36.

Ms. Barringer then said he could search the purse. Hovinghoff found methamphetamine and a broken glass pipe in the front pocket of the purse. CP 10. At 10:38 p.m., Ms. Barringer was arrested for possession of methamphetamine. CP 10. At no time did Hovinghoff arrest her for providing a false statement. See RP, generally.

Ms. Barringer was charged with possession of methamphetamine, and she moved to suppress the evidence. CP 1; Motion to Suppress, Supp.

CP. The trial court denied her motion and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP 4.

Ms. Barringer waived her right to a jury trial and agreed to a trial on stipulated facts. Order Waiving Jury Trial, Supp. CP; Stipulation to Facts, Supp. CP. She was convicted and sentenced, and she timely appealed. CP 12, 20; Finding of Guilty, Supp. CP.

ARGUMENT

THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE SEIZED WITHOUT A WARRANT VIOLATED MS. BARRINGER'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES AND HER RIGHT TO PRIVACY UNDER WASH. CONST. ARTICLE I, SECTION 7.

A. Standard of Review

The validity of a warrantless search is reviewed de novo. State v. Gatewood, 163 Wash.2d 534, 539, 182 P.3d 426 (2008). A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence; conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Id. In the absence of a finding on a factual issue, an appellate court presumes that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain their burden on the issue. State v. Armenta, 134 Wash.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997); State v. Byrd, 110 Wash.App. 259, 265, 39 P.3d 1010 (2002).

B. The state and federal constitutions prohibit warrantless searches and seizures, absent proof of an exception to the warrant requirement.

Both the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7 prohibit searches or seizures undertaken without a search warrant. State v. Eisfeldt, 163 Wash.2d 628, 634, 185 P.3d 580 (2008). This "blanket prohibition against warrantless searches is subject to a few well guarded exceptions..." Id, at 635. Without probable cause and a warrant, an officer is limited in what she or he can do. State v. Setterstrom, 163 Wash.2d 621, 626, 183 P.3d 1075 (2008). Furthermore, where police have ample opportunity to obtain a warrant, courts do not look kindly on their failure to do so. State v. Ferrier, 136 Wash.2d 103, 115, 960 P.2d 927 (1998).

The state bears the heavy burden of showing that a search or seizure falls within one of these narrowly drawn exceptions. State v. Garvin, 166 Wash.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). Before evidence seized without a warrant can be admitted at trial, the state must establish an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. Id.

C. The officers violated Ms. Barringer's rights under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 by detaining her for 2 ½ hours on suspicion of drug possession.

The Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 apply to detentions that fall short of formal arrest. State v. Martinez, 135 Wash. App. 174, 180, 143 P.3d 855 (2006); Davis v. Mississippi, 394 U.S. 721, 726-727, 89 S.Ct. 1394, 22 L.Ed.2d 676 (1969). A seizure occurs following an officer's display of authority whenever a reasonable person would not feel free to leave or otherwise disregard the officer's request. State v. Beito, 147 Wash. App. 504, 509, 195 P.3d 1023 (2008). To justify a warrantless seizure, the police must be able to point to specific and articulable facts giving rise to an objectively reasonable belief that the person seized is engaged in criminal activity or is armed and presently dangerous. State v. Xiong, 164 Wash.2d 506, 514, 191 P.3d 1278 (2008).

An investigatory detention is unlawful unless the state shows that the officers' actions were (1) justified at their inception, and (2) reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place. State v. Rankin, 151 Wash.2d 689, 704, 92 P.3d 202 (2004). The reasonableness of the detention depends on a balance between the public interest and the individual's right to personal security free from arbitrary interference by law officers. State v. Dorey, 145 Wash.App. 423, 434, 186 P.3d 363 (2008).

If the results of the initial detention dispel the officer's suspicions, then "the officer must end the investigative stop;" it is only if "the officer's initial suspicions are confirmed or are further aroused [that] the scope of the stop may be extended and its duration may be prolonged." State v. Acrey, 148 Wash.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). Furthermore, the degree of intrusion must be appropriate to the kind of crime under investigation and the likelihood that the suspect is dangerous. See, e.g., State v. Williams, 102 Wash.2d 733, 740, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984)

1. The 2 ½ hour detention was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment.

Under the federal constitution, courts consider three factors "in determining whether intrusion upon a suspect's liberty is so substantial that its reasonableness is dependent upon probable cause and hence cannot be supported by suspicion alone: (1) the purpose of the [detention], (2) the amount of physical intrusion upon the suspect's liberty, and (3) the length of time the suspect is detained." State v. Belieu, 112 Wash.2d 587, 595, 773 P.2d 46 (1989).

When detaining an individual for investigative purposes, the police must use the least intrusive means available, and the detention "must be limited as to [its] length." Belieu, at 599; Dorey, at 434. The length of an investigatory detention can, by itself, render the detention

unconstitutional. U.S. v. Place, 462 U.S. 696, 709, 103 S.Ct. 2637, 77 L.Ed.2d 110 (1983). The Supreme Court has said that

[T]he brevity of the invasion of the individual's Fourth Amendment interests is an important factor in determining whether the seizure is so minimally intrusive as to be justifiable on reasonable suspicion. Moreover, in assessing the effect of the length of the detention, we take into account whether the police diligently pursue their investigation.

Id; see also Williams, at 741-742. In Place, the U.S. Supreme Court held that a 90-minute seizure of luggage was per se unreasonable. In Williams, the Washington Supreme Court held that a 35-minute detention "appear[ed] to approach excessiveness." Id., at 741.

Here, the police detained Ms. Barringer for 2½ hours on suspicion of drug possession. During that time, they retained her identification and her purse, handcuffed her, searched her person, transported her away from the scene of the accident, held her in the back of a patrol car, subjected her (and her purse) to a drug-sniff dog, and transported her to and from the Morton Police department. CP 5-10.

Throughout all of this, she was kept waiting—for the drug-sniff dog, for Deputy Shannon, and for the search warrant that was never requested. Throughout the 2 ½ hours, the police turned up no additional

⁷ The police may have had probable cause to arrest Ms. Barringer for obstructing, or for making a false statement to a public servant, both of which are gross misdemeanors. CP 11; see RCW 9A.76.020; RCW 9A.76.175. However, Hovinghoff never made a custodial arrest for either of these crimes. See RP, generally.

information that increased their suspicions: each time the police intensified the degree of intrusion, they came up with nothing incriminating. CP 5-10. They were unable even to verify Hartley's claim that they'd find a marijuana pipe in the Blazer. RP (5/30/12) 27, 33; CP 7, 8.

These repeated failures should have dispelled Hovinghoff's suspicions, and he was therefore required to "end the investigat[ion]." Acrey, at 747. Instead, he insisted on keeping Ms. Barringer and her property in custody, escalating the intrusion as he prolonged the detention, even though his "initial suspicions [were not] confirmed or... further aroused" (as required to justify such escalation). Id; CP 5-10.

The detention here was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. First, the officers' purpose was to investigate the relatively minor felony crime of simple possession. Ms. Barringer—who had no felony record—was not suspected of a violent crime, and nothing suggested she was dangerous. There was no reason for a lengthy and intrusive detention. See Williams, at 740.

Second, the detention was highly intrusive. As noted, Ms.

Barringer's property was retained, and she herself was handcuffed,
restrained in a police car, transported, searched, subjected to a drug-sniff

dog, and strip searched before consenting to a search of her purse. Each step in the escalation yielded nothing suspicious.

Third, the detention was unreasonably long. It exceeded the 90-minute seizure of luggage in Place, and the 35-minute detention in Williams. Each time the police intruded further without result, their suspicions should have been dispelled, and the detention ended. Acrey, at 747.

In addition, the state failed to prove the police acted diligently.

The record does not establish why Royle was unable to conduct the investigation on his own (instead of waiting for Hovinghoff to arrive), why Hovinghoff took so long to complete his warrant application, or how long the warrant process normally takes. See RP, generally.

Under these circumstances, the detention was unreasonable.

Williams, at 741-742. Ms. Barringer's conviction must be reversed, the evidence suppressed, and the case dismissed with prejudice. Id.

2. The police did not have probable cause to arrest Ms. Barringer for drug possession.

Under the Fourth Amendment, a lengthy detention may be justified by the existence of probable cause. ⁸ Belieu, at 595. In this case, the

15

⁸ This approach is not permitted under Article I, Section 7, as argued elsewhere in this brief.

police lacked probable cause to believe Ms. Barringer possessed controlled substances.⁹

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