#### No. 43576-4-II

## THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

## JEANNE BELLE BARRINGER,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

## **Respondent's Brief**

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

## **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. TROOPER HOVINGHOFF DID NOT ILLEGALLY DETAIN BARRINGER WHEN HE EXTENDED THE INITIAL CONTACT FOR A TRAFFIC CITATION TO INVESTIGATE BARRINGER FOR POSSESSION OF METHAMPHETAMINE.

Trooper Hovinghoff's detention of Barringer was legal. The extension of the traffic stop was supported by an articulable suspicion that Barringer was committing the crime of Possession of Methamphetamine. Further, Trooper Hovinghoff had probable cause that Barringer had committed the crime of Making a False Statement to a Public Servant when she was placed under custodial arrest.

## 1. Standard Of Review Regarding Finding Of Facts And Conclusions of Law.

Findings of fact entered by a trial court after a suppression hearing will be reviewed by the appellate court only if the appellant has assigned error to the fact. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). "Where there is substantial evidence in the

record supporting the challenged facts, those facts will be binding on appeal." *Id.* Substantial evidence exists when the evidence is sufficient to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the truth of the finding based upon the evidence in the record. *State v. Lohr*, 164 Wn. App. 414, 418, 263 P.3d 1287 (2011) (citation omitted). The appellate court defers to the fact finder regarding the credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given reasonable but competing inferences. *State ex. rel. Lige v. County of Pierce*, 65 Wn. App. 614, 618, 829 P.2d 217 (1992), *review denied* 120 Wn.2d 1008 (1992). Findings of fact not assigned error are considered verities on appeal. *State v. Stevenson*, 128 Wn. App. 179, 193, 114 P.3d 699 (2005). A trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo, with deference to the trial court on issues of weight and credibility. *State v. Sadler*, 147 Wn. App. 97, 123, 193 P.3d 1108 (2008).

In the present case Barringer only assigned error to findings of fact 1.7, 1.12, 1.15 and 1.28. Therefore, the findings of fact not assigned error are verities on appeal. The findings of fact Barringer assigned error to are all supported by the unrefuted testimony of the State's witnesses. Finding of fact 1.7 is supported by the testimony of Trooper Hovinghoff with the exception of the time listed in the finding, 1630 hours. 1RP 17, 42. Finding of fact 1.12

was testified to by Trooper Hovinghoff. 1RP 19-20, 42. Finding of fact 1.15 is based upon Trooper Hovinghoff's testimony. 1RP 21-23. Finding of fact 1.28 is supported by Trooper Hovinghoff and Deputy Shannon's testimony. 1RP 32-33, 2RP 16-17. Therefore, the challenged findings are supported by substantial evidence and were properly found by the trial court.

# 2. The Extension Of The Initial Contact For Investigation Of A Motor Vehicle Collision Was Justified By The Articulable Suspicion Of Criminal Activity Standard.

The Washington State Constitution guarantees its citizens the right to not be disturbed in their private affairs except under the authority of the law. Const. art. I, § 7. People have a right to not have government unreasonably intrude on one's private affairs. U.S. Const. amend IV. Article One, section seven, of the Washington State Constitution protects the privacy rights of the citizens of Washington State. The right to privacy in Washington State is broader than the right under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Const. art. I, § 7; State v. Eisfeldt, 163 Wn.2d 628, 634-35, 185 P.3d 580 (2008). Washington State places a greater emphasis on privacy and recognizes individuals have a right to privacy with no express limitations. Const. art. I, § 7; State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 348, 979 P.2d 833 (1999). A

warrantless "seizure is considered per se unconstitutional unless it falls within one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement." *State v. Rankin*, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004) (citation omitted).

## a. Trooper Hovinghoff had an articulable suspicion that criminal conduct had occurred.

The United States and Washington State constitutions permit an officer to seize someone for investigative purposes without a warrant if the officer has reasonable suspicion that the person has committed a crime. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-24, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968) (federal constitution); State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003) (same); State v. Brown, 154 Wn.2d 787, 796, 117 P.3d 336 (2005) (state constitution). An officer must have some suspicion that the person he or she is detaining is connected to a particular crime and not a generalized suspicion that the person detained is up to no good. State v. Bliss, 153 Wn. App. 197, 204, 222 P.3d 107 (2009) (citation omitted). An officer must be able to identify "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." State v. Mendez, 137 Wn. 2d 208, 223, 970 P.2d 722 (1999), abrogated by Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132

(2007) (*citing Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. at 21). When a court determines the reasonableness of the officer's suspicion it looks at the totality of the circumstances. *Bliss*, 153 Wn. App. at 204.

Officer Royle and Trooper Hovinghoff responded to a dispatched call of a one-car collision. 1RP 4-6, 12-13; CP 5. Trooper Hovinghoff arrived at the scene and found the Blazer in the ditch on the eastside of State Route 12. 1RP 12-15; CP 5. Trooper Hovinghoff contacted Barringer and Mr. Hartley to see if they were okay and to investigate how the Blazer got into the ditch. 1RP 15-16; CP 5. Barringer told Trooper Hovinghoff she was driving and went into the ditch. 1RP 16; CP 5. Barringer had a valid license but the vehicle did not have insurance. 1RP 16, 18; CP 5-6. Trooper Hovinghoff was investigating a possible traffic infraction of not being properly insured and also the possible reasons the vehicle went into the ditch such as negligent driving, reckless driving or driving under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs. 1RP 16-17.

Trooper Hovinghoff discovered Mr. Hartley's driver's license was suspended. 1RP 18; CP 6. Trooper Hovinghoff also remembered seeing Mr. Hartley driving the Blazer earlier that day. 1RP 17; CP 5. Trooper Hovinghoff went back to the Blazer and asked Barringer to step out so he could inquire if Mr. Hartley was

the one actually driving the Blazer when it went into the ditch. 1RP 18; CP 6. Barringer admitted Mr. Hartley had been driving earlier and Trooper Hovinghoff placed Mr. Hartley under arrest for Driving While License Suspended. 1RP 18; CP 6.

Mr. Hartley admitted he drove into the ditch. 1RP 20; CP 6. Mr. Hartley then divulged information to Trooper Hovinghoff in the hope that Trooper Hovinghoff would give Mr. Hartley a break on his driving while license suspended charge. 1RP 19; CP 6. Trooper Hovinghoff did not make Mr. Hartley any promises or offers in exchange for the information Mr. Hartley provided to Trooper Hovinghoff. 1RP 50; 2RP 7; CP 9.

Mr. Hartley told Trooper Hovinghoff that he had driven Barringer to Rochester to purchase an ounce of methamphetamine. 1RP 19-20; CP 6. Mr. Hartley had seen Barringer with 1,000 dollars prior to leaving for Rochester. 1RP 20; CP 6. Mr. Hartley told Trooper Hovinghoff he had not seen the methamphetamine but Mr. Hartley and Barringer had discussed that they were going to Rochester to buy methamphetamine. 1RP 20; CP 6. Mr. Hartley told Trooper Hovinghoff he believed the methamphetamine was on Barringer's person or in the Blazer. 1RP 19, 25; CP 6. Mr. Hartley also agreed to be named in a search warrant.

The trooper acted properly when he initially detained Barringer regarding the investigation for the traffic infractions. Upon learning that Mr. Hartley was suspended and remembering Mr. Hartley driving the Blazer earlier that day, Trooper Hovinghoff had an articulable suspicion that the crime of Driving While License Suspended had occurred. Trooper Hovinghoff also had an articulable suspicion that the crime of Making a False Statement to a Public Servant had occurred when Barringer told Trooper Hovinghoff she had been the one driving the Blazer. When confronted, Barringer admitted Mr. Hartley had been driving earlier and Mr. Hartley admitted he had been the one driving. Once Mr. Hartley provided the information regarding the methamphetamine to Trooper Hovinghoff, the trooper had an articulable suspicion that Barringer was in possession, either actual or constructive, of methamphetamine. Trooper Hovinghoff's continued detention of Barringer for the purpose of the investigation of the possession of methamphetamine was permissible under the investigative detention exception to the warrant requirement.

### b. Barringer was placed under custodial arrest and Trooper Hovinghoff's investigation of Barringer for unlawfully possessing methamphetamine was permissible.

A seizure becomes a custodial arrest when an officer restricts a person to the point where a reasonable person would believe he or she is under arrest. *State v. Belieu*, 112 Wn.2d 587, 599, 773 P.2d 46 (1989). The determination of a custodial arrest is an objective standard. *Belieu*, 112 Wn.2d at 773. A custodial arrest must be supported by probable cause that a crime has been committed by the arrestee. *State v. Lund*, 70 Wn. App. 437, 444, 853 P.2d 1379 (1993). "Probable cause exists where the facts and circumstances within the arresting officers' knowledge, and of which they had reasonable trustworthy information are sufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution to believe that a crime has been committed." *Lund*, 70 Wn. App. at 444-45 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Separately, both the state and federal constitutions permit warrantless arrests when the officer has probable cause that a suspect who is in a public place has committed a misdemeanor in the officer's presence. *See* RCW 10.31.100; *Carroll v. United States*, 267 U.S. 132, 156, 45 S. Ct. 280, 69 L. Ed. 543 (1925). Both constitutions also recognize an "independent source" doctrine,

which approves of searches and seizures if they are invalid for one reason but constitutional under some independent rationale. *State v. Gaines*, 154 Wn.2d 711, 722, 116 P.3d 993 (2005); *accord State v. Winterstein*, 167 Wn.2d 620, 633-34, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009). If an arrest is supported by probable cause the arrest is not made unlawful because the officer subjectively relied upon a different offense from the one in which probable cause actually existed. *State v. Huff*, 64 Wn. App. 641, 646, 826 P.2d 698 (1992).

Trooper Hovinghoff, after asking for and receiving voluntary consent from Barringer to pat down her person, handcuffed Barringer. <sup>2</sup> 1RP 21-23; CP 7. Trooper Hovinghoff informed Barringer that she was being detained for investigation of possession of methamphetamine. 1RP 23; CP 7. Barringer was then placed in the back of a police car and Trooper Hovinghoff read Barringer her constitutional rights. 1RP 23-24; CP 7. A reasonable person under these circumstances would not believe they were free to leave. Under an objective standard, Barringer was under custodial arrest at this point which required the trooper to have probable cause that a crime was committed.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State will discuss the voluntariness of Barringer's consent in the section below.

Trooper Hovinghoff had probable cause to believe the crime of Making a False Statement to a Public Servant had occurred.

A person who knowingly makes a false or misleading material statement to a public servant is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. "Material statement" means a written or oral statement reasonably likely to be relied upon by a public servant in the discharge of his or her official powers or duties.

RCW 9A.76.175. Trooper Hovinghoff was investigating whether a traffic infraction or other driving related crime had occurred. Trooper Hovinghoff had relied upon Barringer's initial statement that she had been the one driving and had put the car in the ditch during his initial investigation. 1RP Mr. Hartley admitted he was the one driving the Blazer when it went into the ditch.1RP 20; CP 6. Barringer also admitted Mr. Hartley had been the person driving. 1RP 18; CP 6. A reasonably cautious person with the facts and circumstances known to Trooper Hovinghoff would believe Barringer committed the crime of Making a False Statement to a Public Servant. Barringer's custodial arrest was supported by probable cause.

Barringer argues for a per se rule that a lengthy detention without a formal arrest violates Article I, section 7 regardless of the presence of probable cause. Brief of Appellant 18-19. No authority for such a rule exists. The cases cited by the defense deal with

searches incident to arrest and pretextual stops. See State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 584-86, 62 P.3d 489 (2003) (concluding that an actual arrest must precede a search incident to arrest); Ladson, 138 Wn.2d at 351 (holding that pretextual seizures are unconstitutional). Neither of those issues is before the court. Rather, the question is whether it is constitutional to detain someone beyond the limits of Terry if probable cause exists and they are in a public place. Because probable cause gives the officers authority to arrest in such a situation, the continued detention is supported by "authority of law" and no Article I, section 7 violation occurs. Indeed, a per se rule to the contrary would be inconsistent with the independent source doctrine, for it would exclude evidence despite an independent, constitutional source of authority for the detention. See Gaines, 154 Wn.2d at 722. The court should reject the defense's proposed new rule.

## c. Trooper Hovinghoff diligently pursued his investigation.

If this Court were to find that the custodial arrest was not sufficient to detain Barringer until Trooper Hovinghoff completed his investigation regarding the possession of methamphetamine, arguendo, Trooper Hovinghoff's actions were lawful because he diligently pursued the investigation.

An officer must diligently pursue his or her investigation to be within the scope of a *Terry* detention. *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 739, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984), citing U.S. v. Place, 462 U.S. 696, 709, 103 S. Ct. 2637, 77 L.Ed.2d 110 (1983). The length of the seizure must be limited: if the ensuing investigation dispels the officer's suspicions, the stop must end, but the stop may persist or be extended if the officer's suspicions are confirmed or further aroused. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747. The courts have not placed a bright line time limit on when an investigative detention goes on to long and becomes a custodial arrest. U.S. v. Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675, 685, 105 S. Ct. 1568, 84 L.Ed.2d 605 (1985). The United States Supreme Court acknowledge that while "a 'bright line' rule would be desirable, in evaluating whether an investigative detention is unreasonable, common sense and ordinary human experience must govern over rigid criteria." Sharpe, 470 U.S. at 685.

Each step the trooper took in this case was in attempt to confirm or dispel his suspicion that Barringer was in possession of methamphetamine. Trooper Hovinghoff received detailed information from Mr. Hartley who explained that he saw Barringer with 1,000 dollars prior to leaving for Rochester. 1RP 20; CP 6. Mr. Hartley explained that he and Barringer discussed that the reason

they were going to Rochester was so Barringer could purchase an ounce of methamphetamine. 1RP 20; CP 6. Mr. Hartley acknowledged he had not seen the methamphetamine but he stated that Barringer had the methamphetamine either on her person or in the Blazer. 1RP 19-20, 25; CP 6. Mr. Hartley was willing to be named in a search warrant and he was not made any promises regarding the information he was providing. 1RP 19-20, 50; CP 6.

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